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The Squatters 

Uninviting and ho tile thi land might have been, but some men were 
equal to the challenge. These were the frontiersmen-mainly young, single, 
ambitious, hardy ( ome called them foolhardy) and imbued with the spirit of 
adventure. 

J. D. MacTaggart

W. B. Tooth 

John David MacTaggart was such a man. Born 
at Campbelltown, Argyllshire in 1823, he had not 
long reached his majority when he had a chance 
meeting in Maryborough with James Sheridan. 

Sheridan had been squatting on land around 
Running Creek where he had lost many of his sheep 
to marauding blacks. He dug in for two years or so 
but it was the last straw when the blacks butchered 
two of his shepherds and he pulled out. Some­
how he convinced the young Scot of the potential 
of the land a few miles south of his Running Creek 
disaster. 

MacTaggart and a bunch of shepherds drove a 
flock of sheep across to this promised land deter­
mined to stay whatever the odds. He did, pioneer­
ing the Kilkivan station, the first of the famous runs 
which later formed part of the Widgee Division, 
forerunner of the present Widgee Shire. 

Two young men of Kent - William Butler 
Tooth and his brother, Atticus-were of a similar 
ilk. They arrived in Sydney in 1839 to join their 
cousins of brewing fame. Fame and. fortune bec­
koned in the north and sometime in the 1840s the 
two brothers travelled overland, their intended de­
stination the Tiaro land which Bales had found so 
unrewarding. But their travel took them further 
west to greener pasture . la fact, they bad disco­
vered the country which was to become known far 
and wide as the Widgee run. 

Not far behind them were the Swanson 
brothers-Alexander, James and John-who bed­
ded their flock at Yabba station, said for many 
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Nash to the Rescue 

In 1867 the infant Colony of Queensland was in dire financial straights. 
Two banks with which the Government had close connections-The Agr.a and 
Masterman's Bank of London and the recently established Bank of 
Queensland-had failed and closed their doors. The Government's coffers 
were empty and public works had ground to a halt. The army of unemployed 
navvies and immigrants in Brisbane had swelled to 2,000 and feelings were 
running high. Men fought over crusts of bread in the streets and there were 
dark threats against the Government. Who knows what would have happened 
but for the timely discovery of gold by an itinerant Englishman named James 
Nash. 

James Nash 

Nash, born in the Wiltshire village ofBeanacre in 
1834, sailed to Sydney at the age of 22. With pan and 
pick he drifted through the goldfields of the south 
without much success. Early in 1867 he moved to 
Queensland, first to Calliope and then to Nanango. 
Still the precious metal eluded him and in mid­
Augu t he decided to head further nortb to 
Gladstone. 

The following few days were to prove a turning 
point in the history of Queensland. 

Nash was on foot and travelling light with only a 
pick, a pan and a bedroll to encumber him. He was in 
no hurry and planned to prospect all likely sites along 
his route. Travelling via Mount Stanley he crossed 
the Jimna Range and spent a night at the Swansons' 
Yabba station. 

Travellers in those days were always welcome to rest a while at the 
isolated homesteads which offered company and security from the nomadic 
savages. 

Next day he worked his way down the range to an old shepherd's hut 
about 12 miles from Yabba and stayed the night there with two young men 
who were tailing cattle. They told him some gold had been found about three 
miles away on Bella Creek and the next day he panned the area. It yielded 
some encouraging colours, sufficient for him to return to the creek for a 
second look after a quick trip to Brisbane to buy a horse and rations. But the 
creek yielded no more than colours and Nash moved on to lmbil station where 
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Whelan, George Williams, Thomas Betts, T. Bettsjr., Harrison Fittell, Mar­
tin Carroll, Michael Cotter, William Carroll, Jeremiah Leahy, Michael 
Leahy; Glastonbury: Michael O'Brien (£138/5/-), John Fitzgerald (£ 84/9/-), 
G. W. Anderson, Michael McGrath, Alexander Matthew, Ellen Clapperton, 
J. O'Connell, H. Andrew, T. Betts; Black Snake: J. Thompson; Maryborough
Road: James Meredith; Kilkivan: Thomas Rose (£126/3/6), Thomas Blood­
worth (£226/13/-), Trustee for J. E. Rose (£257/19/-), Trustee for J. D. Mac­
Taggart (£165/5/-), Robert Hunter (£87/3/6), Rudolph Brown, William
Spencer, Godfrey Moeseneger, William Laurie, James Hunter, Hector Innes,
A. Brayshaw, G. M. Towner, Jane Eliza Rose, B. Molyneux, J. Threlkeld, E.
Delipa, Horace Tozer, Ebenezer Vickery, Mt. Clara Copper Mining Co.,
John Frampton, J. Henderson, P. Ramsay-R. Lord-J. Haley, G. W. Allen,
Tubbs Pritchard and Co., Boase and Co., McGhie and Co., H. Coop and R.
Collins, A. Carter, George Zahnleiter, Ashbury Bright, John Bier, Michael
Mackay.

SUB-DIVISION THREE: 

Lagoon Pocket: James Ogden, Isaac Butler, Charles Biggar, James 
Leary; Imbil Road: W. T. Chippindall (£101/3/4), Riley Duckworth, Francis' 
Quinlan, James Leary, John Trout, A. Hutchinson, James Meakin, S. 
McDonald, A. H. Chippindall; Bunya Creek: R. Brooker, J. A. Spraules, 
John Stephens, Archibald Davies, Thomas Bergin, John Melluish; Yabba 
Creek Road: M. Mellor, Elworthy and Mellor (£l86/12/-), James Swanson 
(£291/6/-), James Cuddrnrn, John Elworthy, E. Harrison; Della Creek: 
George Byrnes (£136/18/-), Theo Simpson, Thomas Pritchard, C. Bunworth; 
Jimna: G. Whittington; Mount Ubi: A. E. Bonney (£97/18/-); Connondale: J. 
Bonney (£ 93), W. Bonney, H. Bonney, C. Bonney, J. McConnell, W. Godd; 
Durundur: John Daley, J '. McConnell; Kenilworth: J. Murray; Bella Creek: 
H. M. Davies (£73/7/6); Amamoor: J. McGill, W. McClymont, John Lethe-•
ren, John Blackburn; Brisbane Road: M. C. Peacon, A. Freeman, J. Banib­
ridge, Daniel Skyring, John Nevin, William Lynch, John Walsh, Cornelius
Walsh, A. Coles.
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as all the residents of Pie and Eel Creeks, Glastonbury and the western 
districts who had to travel another five miles further via Normanby Bridge to 
reach Gympie. 

But the disadvantages of compromise were rammed home with a ven­
geance even while the bridges were under construction. Both structures went 
under in the worst flood in the history of the Mary Valley. The Mary River 
peaked in Gympie at 83 feet six inches on February 4, 1893 and ro e again to 69 
feet two inches a week later. Two years later the Gym pie Bridge Board was 
abolished with little protest from its disenchanted members. 
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Flood pleaded not guilty to the treason charges but did not dissociate himself 
from the Fenians. 

At the end of the six-day trial Flood wa entenced to 15 year penal 
serviLude. Passing sentence, Mr. Baron Deasy aid: "Your crime has been a 
political one; but from the moral guilt of conniving at any a a ination I 
entirely exonerate you. It appears that you were engaged a one of the 
director and participator of what ha been called the Chester raid, which 
had a it object tp upply arm and ammunition to Ireland." 

Flood, along with other Fenians, was transported from Ireland in the 
Hougoumont-the last convict vessel sent to Australia-which reached Fre­
maotle on January 10, J 868. There a handful of the 50 pri oner managed 
to escape with the help of an American sympathiser. Flood wa not among the 
escapees. But the following year he wa one of 45 political pri oners granted 
an amne ty by the Glad tone government in Britain. 1iend in Melbourne 
rai ed £5000 to help the freed men and mo t of them returned to Ireland or the 
United States. Flood elected to stay in Australia. 

Another Irish rebel, John Denvir ,_ later wrote in his memoirs of his 
first meeting in Liverpool with Flood, ''a fine, handsome man, tall and strong, 
wearing a full and flowing tawny-coloured beard. He had a genial face, and, in 
your intercourse with him, you found him just as genial as he looked. He was a 
man of distinguished bearing, who you could imagine would fill with grace and 
dignity the post of Irish Ambassador to some friendly power." 

Flood was about 28 years old when he was 
granted his freedom. He moved to Sydney and 
started a weekly newspaper, The lri h People which 
lasted about a year. He moved on to the Palmer 
goldfield and then to Brisbane, where he worked first 
for the Brisbane Courier and later as manager of 
Perkins Brewery (now Castlemaine Perkins). In 1881
he moved to Gym pie where he established a mining 
secretary's office with Robert Acton under the name 
John Flood and Co., and in 1888 bought a controlling 
interest in the Gym pie Miner newspaper. For several 
years he farmed on the Bri bane Road and then built 
a house on the South Side between Power and Wool-

Gympie Cemetery gar Road , where he lived until his death in 1909.

He remained an active suppo,ter of Home Rule for Ireland and founded 
the first Au tralian branch of the Land League. Some of Widgee' older 
residents remember Flood a a tall, bearded, re erved man, not given to 
reminiscing about his convict days. An imposing edifice, was erected at 
Gym pie cemetery in 1911 "by friends and admirers to commemorate his life's 
work in the cause of Irish Nationality." 

After his second term in office, Flood was succeeded as chairman in 
1894 by his newspaper rival, A. G. Ramsey, also from the South Side, who 
was joint owner with Jacob Stumm of the Gynipie Times. 
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Drought and Disease 

Fireworks heralded the start of the 20th century. It was a time for 
optimism. On the national scene, Federation would become a reality within a 
year. lo Gympie the mines were heading for their record years. For the man 
on the land prospects had never looked better. Then came a crash which was 
to resound throughout the Division and bring farmers to their knees. 

The twin instruments of destruction were a two-year drought and the 
tiny cattle tick. For half a century the landsmen had weathered their battles 
with marauding blacks, droughts, floods and bushfires. Now many of them 
met their match. 

Cattle losses were bad enough in 1901, the first year of the big drought. 
In 1902 the drought was so bad that even Deep Creek ran dry. Feed was in 
such short supply that corn had to be imported from South Africa to take the 
place of the Widgee's failed crops. 

But worst of all were the ticks. Whole herds were wiped out or 
decimated by the tick-carried redwater disease which spread through the 
Division like wildfire. 

A shipment of five Brahman from Java in 1872 is believed to have 
brought the first ticks to Australia. But until the turn of the century ticks had 
been confined to the north of Queensland; not one had been reported any­
where near Widgee. Then as the widespread drought over Queensland 
dragged on many graziers moved their herds to find relief along the coast. 
Tick-infested cattle mixed freely with lo'cal stock agisted on the wallum 
country. The local herds had no immunity, and the damage was done. 

Stock losses were appalling Mrs P. Gilligan, then the largest landhol­
der at Lagoon Pocket, lost 170 head of cattle. On Eel Creek, Thomas Abdy 
lost over 100 head. He later recalled: "I lo t count after 33 died in three days. I 
know I had only :II cows left." Another long established Eel Creek settler, 
David Groundwater bemoaned: 'I just about lost everything. I have not now 
got 10 c-0w that have bad two calves." His losses, in fact, were 325 head. 

Mr. E. W. Treeby, who had ju t bought Mumbeanna, lost 155 out of 
210 cattle; John Hillcoat lost more than 120 of the stock he was running at 
Wodonga; John Bertlesen lost 30 of the 42 cattle he had on agistment near the 
coast· George Cochrane on Deep Creek had to give up dairying after losing 37 
milking cows. 

On the Brisbane Road, John and William Mullaly, who had been the 
biggest suppliers of cream to the local dairy factory, were reduced to just 33 
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courtesy A. rrom,,cch! 

Bert Hinkler's plane at the Gympie Showgrounds in 1928 

The next site sugge ted wa near Bell' Bridge, which led to Kilkivan 
Shire's sub equent repre entalion on U1e Aerodrome Board. Then negotia­
tion were held with the Forestry Department for an airport site near Tinana 
Creek just off the road to Tin Can Bay. inally the Gympie Di tricl Aerod­
rome Board, which had been formed in 1961 decided on the present Kybong 
site. Thi wa the same ite that hire Engineer Jack Channer had recom­
mend cl ome 20 years earlier when he had been asked to inve tigale the best 
site for a defence aerodrome during World War JI. 

Gympie Airport wa opened on May 7, 1966 by the CiviJ Aviation 
Minister, Mr. R. W. C. � wartz. Con truction and ,;un·ning costs were borne by 
the three council repre ented on the Aerodrome Board in the ratio of three 
sevenths each by Widgee and Gympie and one eventh by Kilkivan. 

Regular commercial flight were ·cheduled � r a while but were dropped 
when traffic volumes did not ju tify their continuation. The airport ha re­
mained a busy light aircraft ba e and la t year became the home of an air 
charter service operaled by cott' Aviation. This company operate two 
Ce na from the airport, on a charter basis and for scenic flight to the coa t 
and over the Mary Valley. The latter include a topover at the Pie Creek 
property of George Sutherland who ha a collection of vintage car and 
aircraft. 

There are several other airstrip around the Shire, with two on the coast 
at Cooloola Village and Rainb w Beach as well a landing strips on a number 
of farms to enable aerial.topdre ing to be carried out. 

94 









the only ones interested. Many profes ional men entered the industry. The e 
men who lived in cities throughout Australia joined together to form com­
panie to run beef cattle propertie . Big holding at Go mboorian and North 
Deep Creek were operated in this way. 

But it was the bee.f tuds that captured many producer ' interest. Attie 
Sullivan a Gympie butcher, established the Shire' showplace stud at the 
Chat worth. Thi was the Spring Valley Brahman Stud. And according to 
Gym pie auctioneer and cattle agent, Mr. Bill Bishop, it wa the equal of any 
stud anywhere in the world. 

Dr. W. E. Lindsay with champion Red Poll bull Braelyn Beau Wonder 

Dr. W. E. Lindsay was another prominent stud breeder. His South. 
M_eadow Red Poll Stud, started in the 1950s, produced several champions 
which won trophie at Gympie, Brisbane and Sydney shows. Red Polls 
thrived in the Shire and the breed's dual emphasis on beef and milk provided a 
logical balance between Widgee's beef and dairy interests. 

Another early breeder on the South Side was Percy Bishop who went in 
for Brahmans at his Garglen Stud. At Goomboorian Trevor Gillies also opted 
for Brahmans. At Amamoor Mr. C. Blancken ee, a pineapple grower, ex­
tended bis interest to a Droughtmaster stud while Jack Mulholland changed 
his family s Widgee Crossing farm over from dairying to beef and started a 
flourishing Santa Gertrudis stud. 
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men of the day Mr. F. l. Power and Mr. Ju tin McDonnell, thought their eyes 
were playing trick when they saw the Mary River flowing backward . In fact, 
the volume of water gu hing from the creek was so great that the river could 
not cope and the overflow wa forced back towards Gympie. 

Two day after the Glastonbury tragedy the whole of the Mary River 
was in flood. Cultivations on Imbil tation were badly damaged; the 
Chat worth vineyard of Me sr Carter and Flay suffered considerably. 
Work on the final ection of the North Coa t railway line near Cooroy wa 
held up for over a month because of the rains and the conditions of navvies 
and their familie. was described a pitiful. Becau e of the rain there was no 
work and con equently no money. To cap it off everyone was tarving. The 
expected arrival of ration had been delayed for over a fortnight becau e they 
were on the teamer Tarshaw which was held up outside the Maroochy bar 
becau_ e of the flood. 

Gym pie s mines were badly damaged in thi flood. Many of the deep 
mines were interconnected, to assist drainage and ventilation. Consequently 
water entering the lower mines also filled those mine who e entrance were 
high above flood level. It was months before many of the mine were pumped 
dry. To prevent such a recurrence a system of spring-loaded steel flood gale 
was devised to cover the opening of any mines likely to be affected by flo d. 
No one reckoned on a bigger flood and that wa a mistake. 

The tlood of 1893 wa the grandfather of them all. It peaked at a record 
83 feet six inches in Gym pie on February 4 and once more entered the mines. 

The Chine e market garden just across the river from Gympie were 
wa hed away. The South Side farmers Jost the greater part of their crop 
among them Me sr Ro s Du Rietz, D' Arey Stumm, Ramsey and Power. 
Mr. Flack' house was last seen sailing down the river toward Maryborough 
and Mr. Holmes wa left with only the kitchen of his homestead. Mr. Wic­
kham s hotel the Retreat, halfway between the Jockey Club Hotel and the 
Channon Street Bridge, had seven feet of water through the bar. 

1t wa the same story virtually throughout the Widgee Division. At 
Bunya Creek, Mr. Chippindall lost200 acres of corn. Other to uffer in this 
area were Mes r D. Nicholl and H. Kyte. 

At Yabba Vale, Mr. A. Davies lost over 100 acre of maize while on 
Yabba Creek Mr. Oliver TinckneU lo t six horse and 60 acre of corn just 
ready for the market. A rnscue party which called on Mr. Tincknell by boat 
could hardly believe their eyes when they saw the floodwaters had reached 
the floor of Mr. Tincknell' bou e which had been thought to be on afe 
ground. 

Mr. Elworthy oflmbil tation aJ o suffered, losing 50 acres of maize, the 
best crop grown in the district. Among the heavy lo ers on lower Glastonbury 
Creek were Messrs Green and O'Keefe at Greendale who both lost all their 
crops. Hardly a man among the farmers of Lagoon Pocket escaped damage. 
Mr. E. Butler lo t his hayshed when it burst under the pressur,e of the welling 
hay inside. Across the river, Mr. T. Powell at Traveston lost a good deal of 
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In 1883 five familie at In kip ubmitted the names and ages of their 
chiJdren in the hope of getting a teacher aod ub idy for a provisional chool. 
The fathers, George Bryce John Smith, Sam Reilly, Charles Anderson and 
Frank Peres, all were boatmen attached to the Port of Ma1·yborough. The 
chief pilot wa in charge of the community and it wa his duty to meet and 
hou e any visitor , ince transport to and from these pilot stations was by ea. 
A Captain Heath was the man the community relied on heavily. It was bis 
steamer that plied that part of the coast and, once the school opened it was he 
who wa called on to convey lhe numerou female teacher to and from their 
remote po ting. The fir t teacher was Mi s Mary Garsden. She duly recorded 
in copper-plate handwriting her "commencement of dutie " to the depart­
ment on January 21 1884. Two months later she resigned, "the sea-air being 
rather too strong for me and giving me very violent headaches.·· To often the 
blow he added that Inskip wa , "a very pretty convenient place and the 
people whom I am residing with are exceptionally nice '. 

Her successor, Mrs. Margaret Kenny, la ted little longer and was 
replaced by a Mrs. Sullivan who e appointment proved to be a disa ter. An 
officer from the port authority sent to investigate allegation of drunkeness in 
the teacher made every effort in his report to give her the benefit of the doubt. 
Hi report tated that he had arrived to find the school closed since Mrs. 
Sullivan was suffering from a ''face ache'' and had taken spirits to relieve the 
pain! But despite that and a "ne'er do well" husband the school children were 
progressing well. 

Needless to say the hapless woman was relieved of her duties and a Miss 
Clara Cafferty was appointed in 1868 at£45 a year plu free board. But ingle 
young females didn't seem cut out for Inskip and she too left. In desperation 
Mr . Kenny was reappointed in 1891 but her liking for liquor bad not abated 
since being replaced at lnskip because of her "problem". Two years later she 
was sacked and in the following letter to the department tried to reverse the 
decision to no avail. "Sfr-1 have the honour to ubmit to your consideration 
the following: I am the third teacher dismi ed from thi school; The school 
has had a bad record in previous years· I am the onJy teacher that has not been 
at variance with people; l am under the Department of Public lnstmction 
ince 1878 except one interval while in the Old Country; I am a widow." The 

school was witJ10ut a teacher for two years until a Miss Sarah Gib on was 
appointed. Six months later she was gone, too and Mr. Reilly was notified by 
the department that "the circum tances under which Miss Gib on withdrew 
from lnskip Point are such as to prevent the Minister from appointing a female 
teacher to the place and no male teacher is available. 'And that was the end of 
lnskip Point Provisional School. 

Double Island Point's school started in 1887 and continued until 1922. It 
suffered a chequered career and the children were subjected to a tart-stop 
education. The department obviously tired of constant complaints from its 
scattered women teachers so iwhen Double Island Point's last teacher, Miss 
Stella Kemp wrote to describe her unsavoury accommodation and beg for a 
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The land along the Brisbane Road was among the first to be settled when 
it became apparent that Gympie gold was no mere flash in the pan. When 
Widgee Division was created there was hardly any land not taken up on the 
road between Gympie and the Tuchekoi pinch. Starting from the Monkland, 
the first farmer on the road was John Hopper who selected a total of 152 acres. 
Some of the land later was bought by Hugh Hughes, one of the first 
blacksmiths in Gympie, who called the property Green Ridge-the same 
name as John Pearen' s homestead farm on the other side of the Mary River. 
Somehow Green Ridge moved! And the name later was given to the locality 
further south near Traveston. 

Just north of the bridge across the Six Mile Creek near today's Gympie 
Industrial Estate, the land was selected by John Ray, who had other blocks 
back towards Woondum, while on the southern side of the bridge was the 
Sovereign Hotel. This once was owned by Mr. W. H. Kidd, sr., father of a 
subsequent Shire chairman, and later was removed to a site at the One-Mile. 
There was an even earlier hotel further down the road known as the Seven 
Mile Travellers Inn. This was built by Francis Kemsley in 1871 but its career 
as a hotel did not last long. It became the home of the Purcell family and 
burned down about 1905. 

courtesy T. Ramsey 

This shingle-roofed holiday home of Mr. A. G. Ramsey at Noosa was moved from Kybong 
where it was once a hotel. 

For over a century the Six Mile Creek was the bane of travellers on the 
Bri bane Road. In flood times it was nearly alway one of the first places for 
the road to be cut. The first bridge across the creek wa a makeshift affair 
probably erected with voluntary labour by regular travellers and men from the 
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old rag sufficed to give udders a token washing and this led to many impurities 
getting into milk. 

Early settlers to the east of the Chatsworth Road included Fred and Ern 
Ardrey, Harry Pocock Tom Raymond and the Frilz, Furlong, tanley, Storer 
and Rammutt families. One of Mr. G. Rammutt' ons, Albert was renowned 
for violin he carved from the spurs of hickory tree . Though nearly deaf 
him elf, hi playing matched the excellence of hi workman hip. For many 
year the Rammutt family operaLed a awmill in Gympie. 

Near Gentle Annie, the teepe t pinch on Rammutt Road, tringy bark 
trees were abundant on the hills loping down to Corella Creek. The e were 
ought after for use in roofing before there wa any ir n around. The ea lern 
lope of Corella Mountain were not selected until 1908 when Charles 

Greenhalgh and Tom Percival cleared the be t of the land for sugar bananas 
and dairying. 

On Fritz Road there were two blacksmiths early on, Jim and Jack 
Barnett. The former Fritz property, now owned by Mr. Harry Long i one of 
only two dairy farm· left in the Shire on the Bruce Highway north of Gympie, 
the other being theAJlen properly. Nearby land once owned by Jack Ro sand. 
Bill Billman has recently been sub-divided a the Chat worth Hills Estate. 

Further out at Spring Valley for many years the eye-catching Brahman 
tud of Attie Sullivan, the first landholders were Josiah Fowles who took up 

40 acre in 1871, and Thoma and Charles Edward who settled on adjoining 
blocks the following year. The re t of pring Valley was not opened up until 
early this century when new ettler included Charles Granzin, a carter for the 
old Union Sawmill, Charlie Payne who ran an Illawarra stud, Ted Horton and 

courtesy Ellis family 

This Vulcan truck of Bells Bridge cream carrier Len Ellis was one of the first in Widgee Shire 
with double wheels at the rear. 
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Gerler christened his selection Mountain Vale and built a homestead 
near the present Mahons Road. He also built a vast barn from cedar and 
beech, unthinkable today at the prices these timbers command. Mountain 
Vale comprised 1,500 acres and carried 300 head of cattle. Gerler later joined 
the gold rush to Western Australia and sold to Mr. J. 0. Bonney, who selected 
other land nearby. 

For the best part of half a century Ground water's farm was the last on 
Eel Creek. Now into its sixth generation since the Scottish migrant selected 
nearly 1,800 acres, the Groundwater family has seen a timber town born and 
buried at its doorstep. 

Nearly 60 years ago Brisbane timber merchants James Campbell and 
Son set up a sawmill next to the site of the present Langshaw Hall. Seven 
houses were built on the other side of the road for millworkers and their 
families as well as about seven shanties as barracks for single men. Several 
years later Oden and Christie Meyers built another mill about half a mile up 
the road plus five houses and a couple of barracks. For a while there was a 
store at Campbell's mill but it was later transferred to Meyers where it gained 
a postal receiving depot. About this time the name of the area was changed to 
Langshaw, since the postal authorities thought Eel Creek was too confusing 
as the creek meandered many miles before joining the Mary River. 

courtesy N. Chapman 

Meyers mill at Langshaw 

With two mills, a store, a school and about two dozen working bullock 
teams, Langshaw was a thriving community. Logs and sawn timber were 
hauled out of Langshaw by bullockys such as Billy Tamlyn and Billy Penny. 
The logs were dumped at Rattray's Hill, about half a mile south of the Pie 
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Unlike other banana areas, Eel Creek's growers did not include Rus­
sians or Finns. They were nearly all local settlers although there were a few 
plantations on leased land. 

As bananas gave way to dairying, Langshaw-together with 
Mooloo-became a major producing area. At one stage Mr. Chapman's run 
was the second biggest of all the Gympie butter factory's carriers, being 
bettered only by Snow Bellingham on the Wolvi run. 

The first cream carrier from Mooloo was Jack Grayson, who had the 
run for three years. He was forced to quit during the bad drought after World 
War 1 when cream production plummeted. 

"The drought was crippling," he recalled. "It got so bad you were 
afraid to even ask anyone for a billy of drinking water because it was robbing 
them." 

Mr. Grayson recalled the first pickups on his route-the three Smith 
families, Gibsons, Frank Skyring, Rendalls, Bob Ubank, Whitmores, Kidds, 
Treebys and Notleys. 

When Mr. Chapman took over the run there was only one bridge over 
Pie Creek. And Eel Creek had to be crossed several times, which required 
special measure when il was running fa t. 

''I'd put a bag over the radiator to stop the water flooding in, put a bike 
tube over the exhaust and bring it up over the tray, then take the fan belt off 
and have a go,'' said Mr. Chapman. ''There was just the carburettor on one 
side of the engine and the magneto on the other and as long as you kept the 
magneto dry you were right.'' 

The first cream producer at Langshaw was David Groundwater, one of 
the original selector's four sons who all started as miners in Gympie. When he 
moved out to the farm and into dairying, David Groundwater had to ride into 
Gympie three times a week with a six-gallon cream can over one side of the 
saddle. At that time it was impossible to drive a cart up to the property. Later 
he had a special buckboard built which was light enough for him to lift a wheel 
out of a rut. 

The Groundwater family totted up nearly half a century on the Shire 
Council. Apart from one three-year break, David Groundwater served con­
tinuously as a councillor from 1924 to 1949. His son, Colin, then succeeded 
him on the Council until 1973. 

Langshaw's last major addition was the hall, built in 1938 with some of 
the timber from the local school which had been demolished. The replacement 
school, which closed after the introduction of the bus run, housed the 
Langshaw manual telephone exchange. This was last operated by the Plate 
family before Langshaw gained an automatic exchange. 

On Pie Creek-named after a surveyor, Mr. Pye, who was drowned in 
the creek-the early selectors included Peter Lorensen on Rocks Road at the 
lower end and George Bell in the dense scrub of the upper reaches. Lorensen, 
or Loritzen in his native Denmark, selected 476 acres in 1870. His descen-
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The ite is till known as hurch Hill although the church, t. Jo eph's, 
was moved into la tonbury town hip over half a century ago. The original 
church wa, rav·1ged by white ants but ·ome of the timber was u ed for the 
present building, which cost just ovecflOO and was dedicated by Archbishop 
Duhig. 

Another Glastonbury landmark since removed was the local school. 
The first school building stood on part of the present Glastonbury race course, 
next to a butcher's shop. In 1935 it was moved to the corner of Diggings Road, 
as was the Glastonbury thorn vine which has survived a couple of fires since 
then. 

Race meetings were first held at Glastonbury in 1883, opposite the h tel 
but on a different circuit from today. This was one of the social event of lhe 
year when a constant stream of horse-drawn taxis took Gympie racegoers to 
the c ur e. The races were successfully revived in 1975 after a gap of nearly 
half a century. 

courtesy Betts family 

Off to the Glastonbury Races in 1920-seated are Larry Hogan, Mary Hogan and Olive 
Wooster with Bertie Betts standing behind. 

Glastonbury's population peaked during the 1920s and early 1930s in the 
heyday of the banana and dairy industrie . During this era Glastonbu1y was 
able to raise two local cricket eleven for Sunday matches again l teams from 
Widgee and Wa.rrawee. 

The first cream carted into Gympje wa taken by Dave Birmingham who 
had the run from Widgee. Hi· succe r included T. E. (Teddy) Bett jr., 
Larry Hogan and Ernie Smith who introduced a motori ed ervice to the area. 
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Portas and Warrawee Roads and the Forestry Department was taking a lot of 
timber from the area. Local bullock drivers included Henry Clark, Dave 
Birmingham and Charles Portas. Larry Hogan was running a cream service 
from the area at that time but with butter prices down to seven pence a pound 
there was no real impetus for dairying. 

At the head of Glastonbury Creek, Gympie butchers Arthur Fisher and 
John Wilson accumulated over 5,000 acres extending to the watersheds of 
Widg e and Little Mary Creeks. This property, used mainly for fattening 
purposes, became known as Myravale. 

Myravale was purchased 20 years ago by Mr. Ted Carr, who extended 
the property to about 10,000 acres and runs 1,500 Santa Gertrudis cattle. Last 
year he started the Shire's first experimental deer farm. 

Mr. Carr first noticed a few red deer on the property about IO to 15 years 
ago. They gradually multiplied in numbers and reached nuisance proportions, 
causing heavy damage to oats and other crops. But instead of wiping them 
out, Mr. Carr took out a permit to trap some animals to begin a deer farm. 

Sixty acres was specially fenced at a cost of several thousand dollars 
and on August 24 the Carrs trapped 21 deer to start their herd. Mr. Carr 
estimated the value of a stag at $1,000 and a hind at half that amount. 
Ground-up antlerfi\�re worth up to $2,000 a kilogram in Hong Kong where the
powder is sold as a sex stimulant. And venison sells in Australia at up to $7 a 
kilogram. The newly-formed Deer Suppliers' Association of Queensland is 
investigating a plan to set up special abattoirs at Kandanga since deer cannot 
be killed at cattle works. This could lead to Widgee becoming one of Queens­
land's top deer farming centres if Mr. Carr's experiment succeeds. 

Below the bridge, the selectors included Michael Whelan, Philip 
O'Keefe and Patrick Green at what is now Greendale, at the foot of the 
Brooyar Forest Drive. There were wild times in the hills behind Greendale 
where a member of the Green family carried on a feud with one of his Irish 
neighbours. The two were said to stalk each other at night, taking potshots 
with their rifles, though never scoring a hit. Mr. Green accu ed his neighbour 
of cattle duffing, and on one occasion rode into Gympie and returned with a 
length of rope with which he vowed to hang his arch-enemy. He built a gallows 
from foot thick ironbark near the entrance to his property and this remained 
intact until a few years ago when it was dismantled. Fortunately for all parties 
he was not able to carry out his threat. 

On Greendale Road, Austin Green started a sawmill in the 1920s with 
Walter Shaw as manager. It was later taken over by the Walker brothers and 
survived two fires until it closed about 10 years ago. At its height the mill 
employed a dozen men to meet its government contracts for hardwood. 

At the junction of Gia tonbury Creek and the Mary River the land wa 
selected nearly a century ago by Andreas Hansen Petersen who migrated 
from Copenhagen with his wife Mette, and daughters Celia and Maria. 

Mr. Petersen worked on Widgee station, doing carpentry and fencing, 
while his family established a small dairy which supplied the Gympie goldfield 
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The first road from Moy Pocket to Brooloo was made by local farmers 
who later built a bridge to get the cream truck through. This was the solid 
tyred truck of Herbert Sutton, who took the cream to Brooloo where it was 
railed to Gympie. Alf Sims was one of the first to take cream from Kenilworth 
Gap to Brooloo by truck, his "modern marvel" being a Rio. 

courtesy K. Poulsen 

Poulsen-Walker bridge at Moy Pocket under construction 

In the south-western corner of the Shire in an area known as the 
Borgan-the Aboriginal name for iguana-several large grazing blocks were 
selected from land resumed out of Yabba station at the beginning of the 
century. Among the selectors were Mr. H. W. Edwards, Con. and George 
Spiller from the Chatsworth, William Stubbins from lmbil station and Arthur 
Walker. An entry in Mr. Walker's old farm accounts book shows a payment of 
f;,8/15/- to Elliott Brothers in 1903 for construction of a dip at Borumba. One of 
the first dips in the Shire, its shingle roof is still intact though it is now 
protected by an upraised iron roof put there by Mrs. S. Macfarlane, whose 
father Mr. Atthow bought the property from the Walker family in the mid 
1920s. 

Down Yabba Creek early selectors included Edward Rowlands, John 
Grainger who also worked on lmbil Station and John Organ, a local miner who 
once tried his hand at tobacco growing there. On the Ana branch of the Yabba, 
across from the Imbil run, never-say-die goldminer Thomas Durham and 
Gilbert Horden selected adjoining blocks. 
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trees. There were fears initially that dingoes would play havoc with the flocks, 
but as it turned out the losses were not heavy. 

Al the height of the 1919 drought fre h water wa · di covered at the bay. 
Members of the Gilli family from Goomboorian aw brumbie. digging hole· 
and drinking from them near the highwater mark on the we tern ide f the 
point. On examination it was found these brumby holes contained fresh 
water. George Griffen was the only permanent resident at that time. He lived 
in a humpy on the other side of Schnapper Creek where he tended his oyster 
leases. 

The township got its start with the sale of25 blocks at the northern end 
of the point in May 1922 . The e were mainly half-acre blocks-between 
Oy ter Road and the Fish Board ite-and were offered for ale, t up et price 
tarting from£40 with a.!£25 improvement covenant. Most of the buyer were 

Gympie and Widgee re idents who wanted a weekend fishfog retreat. They 
included Gympie torekeeper Arthur Schuman who kept the first private boat 
at the bay Bob Ho e, William Power, Harry Steele, Gu Au tin, and the 
Sheldon, Dryer and Gillis familie 

Mr.G. D. 'Gu 'Austin wa one ofTinCan Bay'sforemost champions. 
A Gympie dentist and an avid angler, he wa forever pushing Tin Can's case 
for development. A vi iring cartoonjsl's likenes of Mr. Austin once appeared 
in the Gympie Times with the caption 'Mr. Tin Can Bay. ' 

The first residential blocks at Tin Can were sold co·mplete with standing 
scrub and two third generation Gilli brothers from Goomboorian, Ivan and 
Fred, were hired to fell several of them at 30/- a block. Mr. Au tin and Mr. 
Hose were the first to put up houses, both being hauled there from Gympie. 

Some of the visiting youths about that time found good sport with the 
large population of brumbies along the coast. They used to drive the brumbies 
into the water, then jump on their backs and ride them without fear of being 
bucked off. Many of the brumbie were well bred, the result of a number of 
thoroughbreds which had escaped from their owners and joined up with the 
herd. 

Tin Can Bay was still pretly much a backwater when Les Lee arrived in 
1929. There were just seven houses and 17 sheds, mostly for weekenders. 
Some of the houses had been removed from Fraser Island after the running 
down of the sawmill at North White Cliff. There were only three permanent 
residents-Bill Wilson, who did a bit of fishing and crabbing, Jack Broad who 
was caretaker for Arthur Schuman's house, from which some supplies could 
be bought before lhe first shop was opened, and Hannah "Granny" Brown. 

Granny Brown, whose son Hemy had the cream run at Veteran, lived in 
a hou e on the ite of the pre ent caravan park. Living alone io a remote 
ettlement held no terror for her. In her late eveotie she fell and broke her 

rib . There being no transport-or proper road-to the nearest hospital at 
Gympie, he simply bound up her rib and set off to walk to Gympie. Around 
Goomboorian he got a lift for the rest of the way. 

233 





one there in those days. And, ofcour e, when we were playing the English in 
cricket the whole town would be there to listen to the report.'' 

The road from Goomboorian to Tin Can was built by relief workers 
during the Depression but many locals lent a hand. "Any spare time we had 
most of us would go and do a bit. Our local councillor, Tom Steele, set us all an 
example. He'd pick up his grubber and shovel and work alongside the relief 
workers for days at a time. Once the road was finished then we all had to 
maintain it. Most weekends or if any of us had a holiday we'd go up in my 
truck and fill in the worst bog holes with a load of gravel. 

''That road to Gympie could get pretty bad at times. Somehow we don't 
seem to get the rain today that we got in those days. It used to-come from the 
south-east and 80 inches in a year was the usual. The ·school teacher used to 
measure it. One year we had 36 wet weekends. Now the rainfall doesn't seem 
so high and our weather comes from the north. 

"But the rain played havoc with the road. Ther were no bridges across 
Schnapper Creek or Kangaroo Gully so if the weather looked a bit risky Tom 
lmpey u ed t make the trip to Gym pie with me and help lever me out of the 
bogs. Trips at those time alway took two days.' 

During World War II the single-strand telephone party line that Mr. 
Mason won for Tin Can Bay proved an invaluable link. Everyone on the coast 
was a plane spotter and all aircraft sightings, numbers and flightpaths had to 
be telephoned through to the wartime authorities. 

Two elderly bachelor brothers, Evelyn and Archie Allen, and their 
sister Beatrice had lived on a hill at the top of Kauri Creek for years. Their 
property was accessible only by boat. 

'During the war Archie who wa 60 or 70 performed an amazing feat," 
Mr. Ma on recalled. ' I'd rung through one day that three of our plane had 
pa sed over but only two had landed at Maryborough. One had apparently 
crashed between Tin Can and Maryborough with two airmen on board. 

As it turned out they'd come down on some long grass but as they'd 
descended they saw the Allens' place up ahead. They walked up there and 
Archie rowed them the 18 miles round to Tin Can. When I saw the three of 
them walking up to the shop I said to them, "You're not those two airmen?" 
and they were. Archie didn't even stay for a cup of tea. He just got back into 
his boat and rowed the 18 miles back. 

'' A few days later a test pilot and a couple of engineers came down and 
Tom Soanes drove them across country in his truck to the plane. It didn't been 
damaged structurally so when the engineers pronounced it airworthy we had 
to get to work cutting down vegetation with brush hooks. Most of Tin Can had 
come out on Tom's truck. We couldn't believe that the pilot could take off 
from there. Tom drove his truck up and down to flatten the long grass but the 
ground underneath was very bumpy. The pilot said that he'd take off and head 
towards Double Island Point then he'd turn back and land again if there were 
any problems. Well he did take off, missing the top of a gum tree by about a 
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Just about the fastest scrub feller Widgee's forests have ever seen is Vic 
Summers, who began scrub clearing in the Mary Valley in 1939 to help clear 
the way for new plantations at Kandanga and Amamoor. 

Mr. Summers who at 14 won his first open competition chopping event 
at Condamine in 1932, went on to win eight world championships plus numer­
ous Queensland titles for tree felling and standing chops. He held several 
world records and once unofficially broke the world record for tree felling at a 
Gympie Show where he outchopped his archrival George Parker. During 36 
years of competition which took him on the southern circuit and to New 
Zealand, he amassed a vast showcase of trophies and over 400 ribbons. He 
also took part in a chopping display for the Queen on her first visit to 
Australia. 

The tallest trees he felled in Widgee Shire were three ironbarks from 
Wolvi and another from the Borumba Dam area before it was built. All were 
over 100 feet long and were hauled to Chinchilla for a forestry fire tower. 

By far the tallest tree still standing in Widgee is a towering 215-foot 
Gympie messmate in the Como forestry area. It used to be known as the 
biggest eucalypt in Queensland but foresters now doubt this claim. 

In 1949 the big messmate was measured at 210 feet high with a girth of 22 
feet. In thirty years its girth has increased by six inches and its height by five 
feet. The tree is estimated to contain up to 20,000 super feet of timber. 

Interestingly, messmates are confined almost solely to the eastern side 
of the Mary River and grow only on the coastal strip between Pomona and 
Bundaberg. 

The Mary Valley's sawmilling history is synonymous with that of the 
Doyle brothers from Kilcoy-John, James and Andrew. 

First of the brothers to enter the business was John, who set up a pine 
mill at Upper Kandanga around the turn of the century. Most of the pine for 
this mill came from around Mitchell's Creek and the sawn timber was hauled 
to Traveston Siding for railing to Gympie and Maryborough. The plant con­
sisted initially of a vertical breaking-down frame in which two saws were 
worked with two'circular saw benches. A 12 h.p. Robey engine was used 
initially but this gave way to a more powerful 25 h.p. machine supplied by a 
Cornish boiler. 

Some of the earliest workers at the mill were Jack Spicer, Fred Dodt and 
Jim Hodge. At its peak the mill employed about a dozen hands. Teamsters 
supplying the mill included local residents George Schmidt and John and Alf 
Tincknell. 

Next of the Doyle brothers to begin his own mill, this time at Brooloo, 
was Andrew, better known as ''Buller'', perhaps because of the reputation he 
gained for his brute strength-he set a cracking pace for the men who worked 
with him and did not suffer kindly those who flagged. 

James Doyle emulated his brothers by buying a mill in the Kandanga 
township shortly after the railway went through in 1914. 
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than seven miles. Now it has to take timber from as far as 50 miles away. 
Mr. Lorensen said a Main Roads Department official once told him that 

the Wolvi mill had supplied more Bruce Highway bridge timber than any other 
mill in the region. During its 55-year history the mill has operated continu­
ously apart from a brief shutdown for two months iri 1932 during the Depres­
sion and for eight months in 1975 because of a downturn in the economy. 

Sawmilling has always been fraught with danger. One of the most 
horrible accidents in the Shire occurred at a Wolvi mill when a workman 
overbalanced backwards on to a big Canadian saw which threw him to the 
ceiling. Then he was ripped apart as he fell back on to the saw. 

Although mining has always been considered one of the most hazardous 
occupations around, probably more people have been killed or maimed in the 
forests and mills of Widgee than in Gympie's mines. 

Until the relatively recent introduction of safety devices in the mills, 
there was hardly a ten-fingered benchman in the Shire! No matter how 
experienced the man on the bench, something could always go wrong as he 
guided the end of the timber past the· unguarded saw. No one had heard of 
microsurgery, and sewing fingers back on was pretty rare until a few years 
ago. Often the bleeding stump was roughly bandaged with a handkerchief and 
then it was back to work. 

At Meyers' Langshaw mill, for example, Frank Chorley was one of the 
first benchmen. After a series of mishaps he finished up with only the little 
finger left on one hand. Later after Cronins had taken over the mill Henry 
Schultz suffered similar painful losses. He finished up with only the thumb 
and one finger on his right hand. But he adapted to his misfortune so well that 
he continued working and made a name for himself as one of the district's 
leading cricketers. He was a bowler and used his right hand! 

Sometimes accidents were more serious. While there has been none as 
bad as the boiler explosion in 1873 which killed five men at McGhie Luya and 
Co's. Lake Cootharaba mill, scores of men have died in Widgee's mills over 
the years. Sometimes there were accidents in the yards; no matter how much 
care was taken, unloading logs from bullock wagons claimed many lives 
before modern machinery made the task much safer. Sometimes a log could 
be fractured inside but to outward appearances was solid. The danger was that 
in cutting timber like this a piece could be thrown back from the saw, crushing 
or spearing an unsuspecting henchman. 

The timber belt between Kin Kin and Goomboorian has supported 
dozens of mills over the decades. One of the first was a general mill opened in 
the Wahpunga Range by a brother of the world champion sculler, Arthur 
Townes. Further towards Lake Cootharaba mills were operated by Messrs 
Davis and Braddow in the Como scarp and by Messrs Kildey and Davis. Two 
of the Moran Group settlers, Allan Stewart and Albert Davidson; set up a pine 
mill about 1918 which supplied timber to Gympie for several years. It was 
powered initially by a crude oil tractor purchased from the Noosa Shire 
Council. The mill was later acquired by Jim Hinds. Andrew Doyle also had a 
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by the Premier, Mr. J. Bjelke-Peter en, in September la t year. The econd 
stage will include major buildings to house the Gympie Forestry district 
office a research centre, a timber mu eum and other facilities. First principal 
of the centre is Dr. D. Gilmour. 

In recent year the Forestry Department ha developed cenic drive 
through the Imbil and Brooyar state fore ts and has made picnic places and 
lookouts at other spot , such a Mount Mullen on the Rainbow Beach Road. 

The lmbil Forest Drive, on the road to Lake Borumba, features some of 
the best virgin pine in the Mary Valley as well as some of the first plantation 
pine. 

The Brooyar drive from Greendale on Glastonbury Creek across to the 
Wide Bay Highway features a number of different hardwoods, young planta­
tions and some spectacular scenery. The view is best from Point Pure Look­
out, which is a short walk from a series of natural sandstone caves. It offers an 
uninterrupted vista taking in Gympie, Mount Cooroy, the Blackall and Man­
umbar Ranges, the Groggy-highest peak in Widgee-and part of the Wonga 
district. A fire lookout tower can be seen on the other side of the new Brooyar 
plantations. 

262 



















There crushings were carried out only during the wet months. 
Glastonbury never really lived up to its promise. Its best year was one of 

the first when 542 tons were put through the battery in 1889 for 649 oz. of gold, 
with alluvial accounting for another 74 oz. Mining was continued for an 
unbroken period up to 1920 during which time the Doran shaft proved consis­
tently the best with top yields of 394 oz. in 1915 and 453 oz. in 1916. However, 
it topped 100 oz. in only eight other years. The original owner of the mine, Bill 
Doran, was said to have taken fa?,000 from his labours only to iose it all on 
some other risky venture. The mine later was owned by the O'Sullivan 
brothers. 

The second rank of Glastonbury mines included the Tonbine Extended 
with a best of 276 oz. from 128 tons in 1906, United Glastonbury with 112 oz. 
in 1894 and King with 128 oz. in 1919. 

During the 1930s several of the old mines were reworked, among them 
the King by Jim Shepherd. However, total output of all the workings during 
the decade was only 325 oz. 

Some of the old shafts are still reasonably intact, the blue gum shoring 
having weathered the years well. At the bottom of the hill beside Stoney 

cout1csy Queensland N�wspapers 
Sand being taken from the bank of the Mary River near Kidd Bridge to be treated to extract gold 

left in the old tailings dumped in the river. 

271 









property of Isaac Butler, one of the pioneers of Lagoon Pocket. The farmers, 
not used to having much to do with the Government apart from paying taxes 
received the Travelling Dairy with ceptici m initially and failed to provide 
enough milk to be given a practical demonstration of cheese making. They 
were impres ed enough the next time however after the manager of the 
Travelling Dairy cajoled a sufficient supply to show off his radical apparatus. 

Acco(ding to a contemporary report, Lhe chee e making plant con isted 
of a wooden vat with a perforated pipe on either side to admit hot water and 
steam. Inside this was a tin vat in which the milk was placed. Underneath was 
a copper fire box to boil the water and on top two blades to cut the curds, 
which sank by gravity to the bottom of the tin, and a syphon to take out the 
whey. The vat al o was a alting and cooling ink· a ·oon a the temperature 
of the curd had been reducecl to 75 deg. Fahrenhejt salt was added in the 
ratio of one pint to 40 gallons of milk. The curds then were placed in a rack 
covered with white chee e cloth and removed to the pres for half an hour. 
The mass was clothed in fine muslin, pressed overnight and then removed to 
cure for about two months. Simple though the process might sound today, it 
was eye-popping at the time for farmers more accustomed to cattle being 
beasts of burden apart from the odd house milking cow or those bred for their 
beef. 

By 1894 dairying was gaining respectability, In the Gympie Land 
Agent's district there were 120 dairies, four of them each milking over 100 
cows daily and 60 over 20 each. Most of the milk was, however, purely for 
town supply. 

Co-operative dairy factories started to make an appearance in other 
parts of the country in the mid 1890s and in April 1896, a preliminary meeting 
was held in Mr. F. C. Walker's Gympie office to discuss the setting up of a 
creamery and freezing works in the district. Mr. James Fraser, subsequently a 
Widgee chairman, pointed out that Gympie alone was spending thousands of 
pounds to import butter which could easily be supplied by the farmers of the 
district. 

In May 1896 a Gympie Co-operative Dairy, Ice and Cold Storage Com­
pany was formally proposed with 6,000 shares of 10/- each, the co-operative 
members being limited to a maximum of 100 shares per person and a minimum 
of five. A prospectus issued to farmers said: "The company will buy either 
milk or cream; establish creameries at suitable centres when sufficient in­
ducement offers-in other words where sufficient cows are or will be milkeq; 
manufacture bacon; make ice and provide cold storagt. Our country 
neighbours will have a certain market at the highest price for their milk, 
cream, pigs etc. and, if they can avail themselves of the cold storage, and hold 
their perishable articles until the market improves''. 

The farmers were not so optimistic. Two years later only 125 of them 
had subscribed, taking up a total of 2,952 shares. Although the interim 
directors said 2,000 more shares needed to be taken up so the company could 
start on a sound financial footing, they went ahead and purchased one acre of 
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